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NORTHERN VISION DEVELOPMENT LIMITED PARTNERSHIP 
2020 SEMI-ANNUAL REPORT TO UNITHOLDERS 
 
We are pleased to provide this report on the activities of Northern Vision Development Limited 
Partnership (“NVD” or “the Partnership”) for the first six months of 2020. Included herewith are 
financial statements as at and for the period ended June 30, 2020, along with comparable results. 
Current period results have been prepared by management and are not audited. Comparable 
numbers, when presented for the year ended December 31, 2019, were audited by Deloitte LLP; 
however, when presented for the period ending June 30, 2019 they were prepared by management.  
 
Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
NVD is a private partnership, established in February 2004, with a mandate to acquire and own 
properties with strong growth prospects located in northern Canada. The Partnership owns a diverse 
base of commercial, residential, industrial and hotel properties that are managed to provide regular 
cash flow and capital appreciation for Unitholders when market conditions permit. NVD is managed 
by its general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp.*, a private company based in Whitehorse 
and formed under the laws of the Yukon. The operations of the Partnership are overseen by a board 
of directors with a diverse mix of skill sets and experience. The Partnership has no fixed term and has 
a mandate to pay out distributions to its Unitholders 
based on Available Funds from Operations (“AFFO”).  
 

At June 30, 2020, 26,676,602 basic and 26,954,390 
fully diluted** Limited Partnership units were 
outstanding with no options or purchase warrants 
issued (December 31, 2019 - 26,756,921 basic and 
27.048,834 fully diluted). During the period, a 
distribution of $1,500,000 or $0.056 per unit was 
made to Unitholders ($1,000,000 or $0.038 per unit 
during the same period in 2019). Due to COVID 
impacts the Distribution Reinvestment Program was 
suspended during the period. 
 

As at June 30, 2020, management estimated Net 
Asset Value (“NAV”) per LP unit to be $2.52 basic, 
and $2.49 fully diluted ($2.93 basic and $2.90 fully 
diluted as at December 31, 2019) based on management updates made to previous third-party 
estimates of value. Give the impacts of COVID, this semi-annual report includes a full discussion of 
NAV per unit valuation. 
 

* In December 2019 the General Partner NVD Corp. was replaced by a resolution, involving more than 
80% of the units outstanding as signatories, which removed NVD Corp. and replaced it with a new 

General Partner (“GP”) being 536775 Yukon Inc. Subsequent to the replacement an agreement was 
reached to allow NVD Corp to continue to manage NVD, with the agreement of 536775 Yukon Inc., 

until such time as a smooth transfer arrangement could be executed such that NVD Corp could be 
amalgamated into the new GP. 

 
**In March 2020 it was apparent that the liquidity portion of the standstill agreement could not be 

undertaken given current market conditions, and the parties agreed to stand still until that portion of 
the agreement can be arranged (it is the subject of commentary in this report). The agreement includes 

the issuance of units to past GP shareholders as part of the smooth transition and restructuring payment 
to allow amalgamation of the new GP with NVD Corp. Consequently, the issuance of units of that part 

of the agreement are included in the fully diluted unit values. 
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Highlights for the Period 
 
The following summarizes key highlights for the six months ended June 30, 2020: 
 
• First quarter results (pre-COVID) were in line with expectations, although profits on River’s 

Reach II condos were lower than expected due to construction delays and associated increase 
in costs. 

• COVID lockdown impacts adversely impacted performance during the last half of March when 
hotel revenues largely ceased. In March, NVD closed the Edgewater Hotel and turned over the 
Coast High Country Inn to the Yukon Territorial Government as a community health facility, on 
a burdened cost-recovery basis.  

• NVD CEO Rich Thompson was named Chair of the Yukon Territorial Government’s (“YTG’s”) 
Business Advisory Council on COVID economic responses. The Council worked with YTG 
through its Economic Development Ministry on responses including the successful Yukon 
Business Relief Fund (“YBRF”). The YBRF provided fixed cost grant support for businesses that 
had seen a more than 30% COVID-related reduction in revenues. 

 NVD benefited greatly from the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy program (“CEWS”). The 
CEWS provided 75% coverage on wages up to a cap for those businesses that have been 
negatively impacted by COVID by 30% or more.  

 Real Estate Division margin was up 8.7% to $1.48 million in the first six months of 2020. This 
was due to vacancy absorption and new renewals at higher rates, despite the COVID impacts.   

• As would be expected, Hotel Division margins were down due to COVID impacts, dropping 
26.4% to 1.62 million for the six-month period.   

• Long term debt was up 2.8% to $39.7 million as at June 30, 2020, while debt to book value of 
equity declined to 0.98:1 (1.02:1 at December 31, 2019). Overall debt declined 5.7% from $42.1 
million to $39.7 million due to the payout of $3.5 million in short term construction debt. 

• Total income from operations was down 6.1% for the period to $763,568. COVID-related 
factors, including reduced hotel margins, were largely offset by the inclusion of profits from 
River’s Reach II condominium sales. 

 As a result of development income associated with River’s Reach II condominium sales and 
gains on River’s Reach I condo sales, Net Income was up over the same period in 2019 by 17.9% 
to $1.05 million. 

 Net book value of total assets of the Partnership decreased by 7.3% since December 31, 2019, 
from $88.2 million to $82.2 million. This reflected the sale of  River’s Reach II and River’s Reach 
I condominiums during the period, offset in part by the acquisition of a Waterfront Station 
Commercial condo and investment in the Midnight Sun/Caley Building and the Best Western 
Gold Rush Inn Property Improvement Program.  

 NAV per unit was estimated at $2.52 per unit basic and $2.49 fully diluted at June 30, 2020 
($2.93 and $2.90 at December 31, 2019). 
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CEO’s LETTER TO UNITHOLDERS 
 

Dear Unitholders: 
 
Our focus for the last five months has been addressing the new realities of the COVID era. 
Consequently, that is the focus of much of this report.  
 
Over 50% of the Partnership’s income is normally 
generated by hotels – and the accommodations sector is 
amongst the hardest hit by COVID related lockdowns. 
Canadian publicly traded hotels have seen more than half 
their market values disappear over the last quarter, and 
real estate values have also been under pressure in most 
of Canada as a result of retail and restaurant shutdowns 
which have caused tenants either to seek assistance with, 
or to not pay rents. 
 
We have been fortunate in the Yukon due to the 
following and other factors: 
 

 The introduction of the Yukon Business Relief Fund (“YBRF”) which provided two months of 
fixed cost coverage for businesses up to $30,000 per month, and which was subsequently 
extended in partnership with CanNor for an additional two months. This program has been 
extremely helpful for our Hotel and Real Estate operations even though the Real Estate 
division does not qualify for direct support. 

 In March we were able to negotiate a lease with the Yukon Territorial Government (“YTG”) 
for our Coast High Country Inn property on a burdened cost recovery basis. We turned the 
property over to the government as a health and isolation centre for a three-month period 
that has now been extended to the end of 2020. 

 The Yukon announced a Large Events Cancellation Grant program which provided some 
coverage for public events that were cancelled due to COVID.  

The federal government CEWS program has also been of great assistance. It covers a component 
of wages (up to 75% for wages up to ~$58,000 per annum per employee) for businesses with a 
revenue drop of 30% or more. It originally covered three four-week periods but has now been 
extended to ten four-week periods covering from March 15 through to December 2020. A sliding 
scale will mean it has less overall impact for NVD going forward. CEWS will remain helpful 
throughout 2020 and it will ultimately be the most beneficial program for NVD.  

When the COVID impacts first hit, we completed several reforecasts. Based on those, we initially 
believed that the current year would post losses, and would experience negative cash flow from 
operations. It was difficult to see how we would not be impacted across the board and hit very 
hard in our hotel and food and beverage activities. Over the course of the last four months your 
management team and board have worked to find ways to improve these circumstances. We have 
been helped along the way by the well-considered grant and subsidy programs noted above, and 
more recently by a gradual loosening of lockdown provisions. The Yukon had its borders closed to 
outsiders until July 1 when BC residents were invited back to the Territory without isolation 
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requirements. During the lockdown and isolation requirement periods, the Hotel Division has 
been assisted by mining isolation contracts which see essential workers (other than those from 
BC) spending a 14-day isolation period in Whitehorse hotels.  

Due to all of the foregoing factors, and given a six-month deferral on principal for most of our 
debt, we now project that we will manage through the year with positive cash flow and potentially 
with a positive net income. There are still many unknowns, so we will continue to be both diligent 
and flexible in our efforts to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 and the related economic impacts. 
 
River’s Reach Condominiums 

Building B at River’s Reach II was completed in the first half of 2020 meaning that we were in 
position to sell or lease all of the 44 units in that complex. In the final quarter of 2019, we 
completed nine sales in building A and a further 14 have been completed in both buildings at the 
writing of this report, with additional closings pending. COVID-19 has not impacted prices for 
these condominiums, although the velocity of sales has slowed. Accordingly, we have leased all 
but two of the remaining units. A number of the leases are lease to purchase arrangements which 
may lead to further sales in the next two years, and most are for a year or longer. There are two 
vacant units, and we expect they will be sold or leased in the last half of 2020. We are committed 
to keeping at least ten units in our lease portfolio associated with grants received. These 
remaining unencumbered units in the lease portfolio now produce over $30,000 in net income 
monthly, and have had a major positive impact on the Real Estate Division performance. This 
major contribution to income will continue over the medium term even as a portion of the leased 
units are sold off, and the existence of both sales proceeds from this project during the COVID 
period and the income from unencumbered assets has been a blessing and a great help in 
retaining balance sheet strength.  

During the period, the sale of two River’s Reach I condominiums left us with one unit in that 
project that is currently under a lease to purchase contract. The sale of the River’s Reach I units 
accounted for material gains on sales in the first half of 2020.  

It was important to generate the cash flow from sales in the first half of 2020. This allowed us to 
pay off all of our remaining short-term debt while also supporting the payment of a distribution 
to Unitholders required to meet their 2019 T5013 NVD tax obligations. In May we sent out $1.5 
million to Unitholders. The Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRP”) was cancelled due to 
uncertainty around NAV per unit values during the COVID crisis, and as a result no units were 
purchased through the DRP.  
 

Managing in the new COVID reality 

Management aggressively reacted to COVID impacts. The immediate shutdown of the Edgewater 
Hotel and the transfer of the Coast High Country Inn & Convention Centre to YTG on a burdened 
cost recovery basis were important early steps that allowed us to preserve cash and stem losses. 
We consolidated all Whitehorse demand at the Best Western Gold Rush Inn (“Gold Rush”). We 
continued with the Property Improvement Program that was underway at the Gold Rush until it 
was completed in May. By then we had signed isolation contracts with mining companies in place 
that allowed us to operate the Gold Rush close to capacity and to reopen the Edgewater Hotel. 
The CEWS program was invaluable as we struggled with lower Average Daily Rates (“ADR”) and 
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occupancy levels. Along with the mining worker isolation contracts we were therefore enabled to 
call back some staff and provide higher levels of employment. 

At the same time your board suspended the Retention Awards program for both board and 
management. Board members and senior and mid level management also voluntarily accepted 
cuts to their compensation. Board members 
deferred their compensation and Retention Award 
payouts to the fourth quarter of 2020. The 
combination of those moves also delivered 
important savings that, coupled with layoffs and the 
CEWS recoveries, have and will continue to 
contribute to stronger than anticipated results in 
the current year.  

In Dawson, we closed the Downtown Hotel Annex 
building and slowed down the renovations at the 
Midnight Sun and Caley projects. It was clear the 
Midnight Sun property would not be needed until at 
least the 2021 summer season, at the earliest, so 
there was no need to rush to completion in the face 
of supply chain disruptions due to COVID. However, 
we have completed the Caley project, and in July we began to realize some revenues associated 
with that property. At the writing of this report the Midnight Sun is nearing completion and 
receiving rave reviews. The properties will be valuable assets when tourism returns to Dawson. 

Given that COVID-impacts resulted in disruptions to the supply chain, for the Midnight Sun 
renovations in particular, it was a good thing that we did not need to launch the product this year. 
The elongated period for renovations also provided us with the opportunity to utilize CEWS 
subsidies (much of the renovation team involved 
our employees) to offset some of the cost 
increases due to delays in supply. At the writing of 
the report the project is very near completion, and 
as the pictures here show, we believe we have 
developed a Dawson leading project for when 
tourism demand returns to the Yukon. 

A new lobby greets visitors with an open concept  
and a place to relax and drink in the Dawson ambiance. 

 
 
< Industry standard setting rooms in Dawson: The 
new rooms have been extensively renovated to 
provide guests with the best stay on offer in Dawson.  

The Caley Building has taken shape in Dawson 
supported by major financing support from CanNor. 
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NVD senior management has played an important role in the overall Yukon response to COVID-
impacts. I was asked by the government to chair the Business Advisory Council (“BAC”) which was 
formed in order to provide recommendations related to the impacts of COVID on the private 
sector in the Yukon and potential for programs to assist businesses. In April, BAC collaborated 
with Yukon Territorial Government (“YTG”) on the development of the YBRF which provided fixed 
cost grants for businesses that were experiencing a revenue decline of 30% or more. This program 
proved to be a leading program in Canada in terms of its impact on the private sector. It helped 
many businesses survive. Importantly for NVD it assisted tenants in paying their rents at a time 
when businesses were most impacted and has set those businesses up for success longer term. 
We are hopeful with the reopening of the local economy and the extension of the economic 
bubble including British Columbia (on July 1, 2020) that there will be enough strength in the 
private sector economy to allow businesses to survive as COVID impacts persist. BAC has 
collaborated with YTG on several important initiatives and we believe that the volunteer time I 
spent leading this committee was well invested. 

In August or September, we may see an end to the mining isolation contracts, or at the least a 
reduction in volume and frequency. These contracts have been sustaining  two of our Whitehorse 
hotels. This may cause us to close the Edgewater Hotel once again; however, at the writing of this 
report it continues to do well, relatively speaking, and so that decision has not been finalized. We 
will operate the Gold Rush, although when the Coast High Country Inn is returned to us in January 
2021, we may shift to utilizing that property as our main Whitehorse operation. In that case, we 
would  close the Gold Rush to allow for the next phase of the Property Improvement Program to 
be completed, should financing be available for that undertaking. There are a lot of moving parts, 
and clear trends have yet to emerge on future volumes, so our plans will remain fluid, and we will 
be constantly adjusting to make the best moves possible on behalf of our Unitholders.  

As a consequence of all the moves we have made, including entering into three- or six- month 
principal deferral agreements with our major lenders, we have been able to build up our cash 
balances as we face uncertain times. We also kept the distribution to Unitholders at a level that 
addressed slightly more than their maximum tax obligations, allowing us to preserve much 
needed balance sheet strength. We will continue to focus on selling River’s Reach II condominiums 
at a slow but steady pace, in order to continue to build cash reserves. We are incredibly fortunate 
to have entered into the COVID era with a completely unencumbered set of River’s Reach II assets 
based on the way we financed that program, and that strength provides us with important 
flexibility and support for opportunities as we move forward.  

The entire picture is not rosy. But the moves we have made, the support we have been able to 
access, and the decisions taken to date have put NVD in a position to fully consider opportunities 
presented as we emerge from the COVID lockdowns. We know the road to full recovery will be 
both long and steep, particularly given our concentration in hotels, but we have made good 
headway so far and continue to make every effort for Unitholders to ensure that we achieve the 
best possible outcomes for the Partnership. I would be remiss not to acknowledge our incredible 
fortune in having embarked on a succession program in 2019 and having hired Michael Hale as 
our COO in September 2019. Michael was long enough in place before COVID hit to have his feet 
firmly on the ground, and his background in Yukon Government, mining, and other areas, along 
with his extensive connections have significantly strengthened NVD’s management in a way that 
seemed almost custom made for the COVID crisis. His contributions have been immense, and we 
are all indebted to him for his stewardship during this crisis.  
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So where do we go from here? 

When COVID impacts hit, we initially predicted an $8 million swing from a projected $5 million 
net income in 2020 to a loss of $3 million. Annual cash flow from operations was also expected to 

be negative, with initial projections 
suggesting cash flow would be negative 
$1 million. We got to work on achieving 
a better outcome. 

Soon enough it was clear that we could 
make tough moves that would allow us 
to reduce the impact of the challenges. 
Concurrently, government programs 
emerged that provided us much needed 
relief. Banks were helpful, not only as 
variable rates were reduced, but also in 
their quick outreach and provision of 
important principal deferral programs, 
one for three months, but the balance 
for six months. Sales at River’s Reach II 
went through, and while hotel 
operations were hammered, our front-

line team went to work figuring out how to manage with much less, and how to attract what 
business there was available to our hotels. Slowly the tide began to turn. 

We set a number of goals. The first was to get projected annual cash flow to a neutral or positive 
position. By May we had that outcome in our sights. By June our second goal – to break even on 
an annual net income basis – seemed to be achievable. We are now at work on achieving the third 
goal – that is to find a way to deliver a meaningful net income in 2020 for our investors despite 
the challenges. We defined meaningful as above $500,000. Given our net income at the end of six 
months is over $1 million we believe this objective may be within our grasp. However we need to 
be mindful that subsidies will wane moving forward and we are almost certain to post losses in 
the Hotel Division in the final half of the year. Never-the-less, the entire team is focused on this 
final objective and we look forward to reporting to you on our progress in the Annual Report.  

As I write this report to you, we are starting to focus our team beyond the survival objectives. 
While we have reminded them we are in a marathon and not a sprint, and that there is much to 
do to ensure we do not slip back on our survival efforts, we are also turning our attention to the 
future. We believe that interesting acquisition opportunities may present themselves and we 
know for sure that if we think and act creatively, and differently from others, we are likely to 
succeed and thrive where others might not. We are committed to providing economic leadership 
in the Yukon and we want our investors to be better off within a few years, than they might have 
expected to be by that time based on pre-COVID estimates.  

To inspire that level of success we are taking some important strategic steps: 

Staff Retreat in September – within the Yukon, and very likely in Dawson, we will collect our staff 
together to talk about all the ideas we have for 2021 and beyond. We have invested in new 
planning software, commenced our planning process earlier in the year and challenged our staff 
to fill blank canvasses with brilliant ideas that will boost our performance in the years to come. 

Closure of the NVD office for months as staff worked 
from home allowed us to convert to a fully open concept, 

reduce our footprint, and rent out space to others. 
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We believe that through COVID we have been tested and our management team is the best it has 
ever been. We cannot wait to see what they are capable of in the new reality. 

Normandy Assisted Living Project We started work in this new area for NVD with partners Ketza 
Construction and Borud Enterprises over a year ago. We have received the financing support 
required, and as I write this report, the shovels are in the ground. COVID has certainly reminded 
all of us of the importance of proper living arrangements for our seniors, and Normandy will 
deliver this much-needed service in the Yukon. Expanding into this area will lean on both our real 
estate and hospitality skills and experience, and NVD is proud to be the management lead for this 
project. We will have much more to say about Normandy in our Annual Report, but for now I am 
delighted to announce that it has moved from the dream stage to construction reality. It will also 
provide much needed jobs in the Yukon during COVID re-emergence.  

Excavation now underway at Normandy Assisted Living site – August 2020 
 
Reimagining the Perfect Hotel Experience.   Led by our Rooms Divisions managers, the hotel team 

has been challenged to reimagine the perfect hotel 
experience for Whitehorse. They have done 
substantial work on plans, some of which will be 
implemented to ensure that as the NVD Hotel 
Division welcomes visitors in volume once again, we 
are delivering a hotel product and service that is 
every bit the experience that our guests should 
expect. Importantly, our Edgewater Hotel was just 
awarded Trip Advisor recognition as being amongst 
the top 10% of hotels worldwide based on guest 
comments. But our team believes we can do even 
better!  

The “experience excellence” program is not 
restricted to the Hotel Division. Our Real Estate team 
is also working on becoming a Canadian leader in 
property management and is well along in laying 
plans for the future of that division. And even our car 
wash operations are receiving attention, with the 
addition of a comprehensive detailing operation and 
other changes being made to ensure it offers stand-
out service.  
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Together these initiatives are designed to ensure we use the extra time that COVID-19 has 
afforded our team members to do some clear thinking on how our products and services can be 
designed to deliver sustained advantages over time, and will set up NVD for a brilliant future as 
we emerge from the current challenges.  

Net Asset Value Estimation Details 

The challenge in estimating NAV per unit as at June 30, 2020, in the post-COVID environment, has 
been vexing. As at June 30, 2020, Canadian publicly traded hotels were off more than 60% in their 
market values contrasted to pre-COVID levels, and REITS that hold portfolios comparable to ours 
were off as much as 20% when contrasted to pre-COVID market values. Industry experts are 
suggesting slight upward pressures on hotel capitalization rates, especially for particularly 
vulnerable properties, while capitalization rates on commercial properties are also seeing very 
slight upward pressure. Given the impact on hotel revenues which many industry experts expect 
to last for at least two years, there is no question that NVD’s market value has been impaired.  

At the same time we have seen record results for the first half year (and estimated for the full 
year) from our Real Estate Division, with vacancy absorption and renewals at higher rates than 
existing leases, and our Hotel Division is outpacing Canadian industry trends (see graph) as well 
as our own most optimistic post-COVID 
expectations. Additionally, government 
programs have provided a level of 
support that has been greatly needed to 
weather the storm. The challenge is in 
understanding and properly predicting 
the length of COVID impacts and the 
eventual return of strong travel trends.  

The graph shows the discontinuance of 
hotel operations at the Coast High 
Country Inn, but prior to that our non-
seasonal properties operated well above 
the indicators for both Canada and the 
Yukon (the latter of which are pulled up 
by the performance of our portfolio). 
Our hotel performance indicators, and the geographic indicators, tanked in the month of April, 
although already isolation contracts were helping performance at the Gold Rush Inn. Since that 
time The Gold Rush, the Edgewater and the Bedrock have all outperformed the Canadian and 
Yukon averages materially (July averages were not available at the writing of this report) and even 
the Downtown Hotel, which is seasonal, had begun to meet the averages.  

Given the record performance of our Real Estate division, the fact that the prices of River’s Reach 
condo units have held up through COVID – representing a significant component of our overall 
portfolio at 14.7% of Fair Market Value (“FMV”) of total assets – and given hotel portfolio 
outperformance versus national comparatives, we believe NVD values have held up better than 
most, and certainly better than would be expected. 

Properties held for sale and developable land assets in the Yukon have essentially avoided impact 
to date from COVID related factors (based on available market data), and these assets represent 
22% of our portfolio. Our Rental portfolio has also seen virtually no impact. Aside from the fact 
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that they are producing record results, they are mostly commercial office and retail assets which 
have generally not seen much pressure on capitalization rates to date. Still, given the unknown 
tenure of COVID, we have placed some risk into valuations for these assets, which has put slight 
downward pressure on the overall valuation of that portfolio. Our estimates are that this portion 
of our portfolio has declined in value only marginally. Slight increases in Cap rates (and resulting 
downward valuation) have been offset by higher revenues from the portfolio, leading to an overall 
2% decline in value since December 2019.  

That means that roughly 70% of the asset value of the portfolio has seen only minor declines in 
value. For our hotels, even with the overperformance of our portfolio versus industry averages, 
there has been a substantial decline in the property values that must be reflected in NAV 
estimates. There is a floor created by the asset values of land and buildings and the premium 
location of our assets, but the expected decline in income over a two-year period materially 
impacts the net asset values. For the four key hotels (Gold Rush, High Country, Edgewater and 
Downtown) we estimate a decline in value of 21.5% in Net Asset Value from December 2019 using 
our standard valuation parameters. The Midnight Sun and Bedrock are up in value slightly due to 
investment in these properties and the fact that the Bedrock is outperforming last year’s results. 
In the case of the Midnight Sun, the fact that we received over $750,000 in grant and subsidy 
support has an impact on the positive increase in value of that property.  Anecdotal evidence 
suggests that savvy buyers are looking for at least a 25% to 30% “COVID” discount when 
purchasing hotels, and markets have been even more aggressive on the discounted values of 
hotels, particularly in Canada. However, given the outperformance of our portfolio versus the 
industry averages during the COVID period, we believe that a 21.5% discount in value on our pre-
COVID operating hotels, which are already capitalized at the high end of hotel cap rates (therefore 
at a lower value) is prudent and supportable. 

Given all of the foregoing, we estimate a NAV per unit value of $2.52 per unit basic, and $2.49 per 
unit fully diluted. The fully diluted number includes the issuance of 277,789 units as part of the 
smooth transition and restructuring payment, which is part of the GP transition (see following 
section). This represents a six month decline of 14.0% basic and 14.1% fully diluted from 
December 31, 2019 values. 

The chart opposite provides a 
low, high and midpoint range 
for how we might value the 
discounts experienced by 
various parts of our portfolio. 
It suggests a midpoint of the 
range would be a 15.1% 
decline. This compares 
reasonably well with our bottom up standard approach to asset valuation which produces a 14.1% 
decline on a fully diluted basis – and as indicated there are reasons to move some of our asset 
classes toward the bottom of the range. 

 

  

NAV Ranges Portfolio Weighted Impact
Weight Low High Mid Low High Mid

Hotels 32.8% 20.0% 40.0% 30.0% 6.6% 13.1% 9.8%

River's Reach 14.7% 0.0% 5.0% 2.5% 0.0% 0.7% 0.4%

Development 7.6% 0.0% 10.0% 5.0% 0.0% 0.8% 0.4%

Rental 44.9% 5.0% 15.0% 10.0% 2.2% 6.7% 4.5%

Total 100.0% 8.8% 21.4% 15.1%

Actual Reduction in fully diluted NAV based on property specific analysis: 14.1%
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General Partner Smooth Transition Payment 

In the first quarter of 2020 we reached agreement with the representatives of the shareholders 
of Northern Vision Corp to enter into a smooth transition program that would result in a General 
Partner (“GP”) whose ownership reflects the ownership of the Limited Partnership without 
creating liability issues for our Unitholders. This smooth transition agreement had two key 
components: the issuance of units as a payment for value created by the GP and to support a 
smooth transition to the new GP so we could continue to operate it as NVD Corp.; and a liquidity 
event of $8 million aimed, in particular, at providing long term Unitholders with an opportunity 
to exit the Partnership, including some of the NVD Corp shareholders, should they wish to do so.  

We have updated the smooth transition unit issuance to include the value of the distribution 
made earlier this year, resulting in an issuance of 277,789 units. The board believes this is a fair 
issuance for value received and to support a smooth transition and restructuring, while avoiding 
legal costs associated with title transfers and reworking banking relationships. It also allows for 
smooth operation of the Limited Partnership. The second component – the liquidity event – 
became troublesome due to the COVID impacts. Undertaking the contemplated liquidity event at 
the agreed upon price of $2.755 became untenable, as we knew that given COVID uncertainties, 
most Unitholders would tender to the bid. 

Consequently, we agreed to stand down and find another way to provide a liquidity event that 
might meet the intent of the original plan, but that would not automatically be subscribed to by 
those who desire to support the Partnership over the longer term. We propose to honour the 
price of that contemplated event: $2.755 per unit - which will be offered to every Unitholder. 
However, it will be paid out over a five-year period with no interest, thereby bringing the net 
present value in line with normal market value for NVD units. Our hope would be that only those 
looking for liquidity after a long hold would tender, but we will make the offering to all 
Unitholders, as we are required to do.  

We believe that the offering, discounted at a rate below NVDs historical cost of capital, would 
place the value of the deal at $2.37 or less on an net present value basis, for those looking to 
remain invested in NVD LP. The price of $2.37 per unit represents a 5% discount on the fully 
diluted NAV value of $2.49 per unit – which is our normal parameter for formal equity 
transactions. Some might use a higher, and some might use a lower discount rate in coming up 
with a net present value, but we believe this approach honours the contemplated price, while 
keeping the transaction within current market values. It therefore is not prejudicial to those who 
exit or those who stay. We will also offer the same deal for those who wish to buy units of the 
Partnership, and have placed qualifiers on the deal that allow us to accelerate payout for those 
who tender, if there is a large demand to purchase units on the other side. This makes sense, as 
such a level of interest would signal that we may have under-market pricing in the view of some. 
Paperwork will be circulated in early September properly describing the deal to all Unitholders.  

The risk in this arrangement for Partners who do not tender, is if the payout of $1.6 million per 
year for each of the next five years puts undue pressure on the Partnership. That is a risk for the 
next few years as we do not know how long the Partnership will be under stress from COVID 
impacts, but we expect to be able to cash flow the payments, and we do not expect - except in 
the first year or two - this to impact distributions. We do anticipate being in either a break even 
or small profit scenario during that period, and we will not be expecting to pass on any material 
tax obligations to our Unitholders during that time. So, in the first year or two we may use funds 
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that would otherwise be utilized for distributions, but in the latter years we would anticipate 
paying out both the buyout and distributions. Again, if we perform better than anticipated there 
are provisions that would allow us to both accelerate the payouts to those who tender, while 
paying out distributions to the remaining Unitholders.  

And we have another source for this payout other than the normal operational cash flows. 

Over time we could take out the entire $8 million with sales of River’s Reach condominiums that 
so far have held their values post-COVID. These units are unencumbered, and combined they have 
a value of $15.1 million at River’s Reach II and a further $565,000 at River’s Reach I. Of these, two 
are pending sales worth $1.2 million, seven are subject to lease to purchase offers at $4.7 million 
in the next two-year period and the remaining units are mostly subject to one- or two-year leases. 
If sales do not proceed in an orderly fashion over the five-year payout period, we would be able 
to place debt on this portfolio and pay off buy out obligations. This is a low risk approach to 
honouring the liquidity offer and getting this issue behind us. At the same time, it would reduce 
the number of outstanding units by 2.9 million units, or 10.8% on a fully diluted basis – so while 
Unitholders may have to accept no distribution over the next year or two, they will see a value 
increase in their overall holdings. The transaction leaves us with a clean outcome from the GP 
transition exercise and will allow us to focus on building the company in the post-COVID era.  

In speaking with Unitholders about this transaction some have asked that we also make it 
available as a buy in opportunity on the same basis. We will do this to a point, as we are seeking 
to reduce the number of units outstanding, and therefore desire that a portion of this transaction 
be from treasury. Our transaction summary to be sent out soon after this semi-annual report will 
outline how we will retain a reduction in outstanding units as a result of this transaction.  

We will be organizing this offer immediately following the publication of this report in order to 
close out the commitments to the NVD Corp shareholders, and hope to be able to be back to 
operating in a normal fashion once this item is concluded – a time at which we hope to be 
continuing to emerge from COVID impacts.  
 
Senior Management and Board Succession 

As part of the reorganization of the General Partner so that its shareholdings match that of the 
Limited Partnership, we also plan to complete board and senior management succession plans. 
We have made significant strides over the past 18 months in moving forward on increasing depth 
of senior management, and so far through the COIVD challenges we have been able to hold onto 
that depth. We will look to taking advantage of our senior management capabilities throughout 
the COVID crisis, and more importantly as we move forward emerging from them.  

We will now turn our focus to the board of the General Partner. Once we conclude the smooth 
transfer transaction with NVD Corp, we will move forward with board succession. We currently 
operate with five board members as a result of resignations that have not been replaced, so we 
have a good starting point that will allow us to retain corporate memory on the board, while also 
building new strengths. We will report further on our progress as we move forward and will 
address these plans fully in the 2020 Annual Report to Unitholders.  
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Summary 

The last twelve months have been the most difficult in my career as a founder, board member 
and CEO at NVD. The period involving the differences in opinion on GP transition was difficult, 
particularly in light of the fact that both major opinion groups were populated with individuals 
who have given so much to NVD over the years, as founders, board members and supporters. It 
will be disappointing to see them exit fully, should they choose to do so, given the incredible 
contributions they have made to our success. Working through that issue and the challenges of 
COVID have taken their toll on me as I turned 60 years old in the midst of this, and I will look 
forward to working out a smooth transition over the next half decade as I see us fully through 
COVID and then work on a transition that will hopefully see me rejoin the board and continue to 
play a leadership role in that capacity.  

But the difficult times have not been without their rewards. When difficult times are upon us, we 
are reminded of how blessed we are. The COVID crisis has been a clear reminder of how 
committed our investors are, even those seeking exit who stood down to allow us to address the 
immediate COVID impacts, and we are lucky to have them. Investors can always be at the heart 
of a business success story and for our Partnership that is certainly the case. I have also been 
reminded of the strength of our board, who have calmly reviewed our responses and provided 
helpful and expert guidance in the areas of hotels and development activities. Their guidance has 
been timely and critical to allowing us to achieve results that exceed those of our peers.  

It is not possible for me to say enough about the response of your management team. We have 
been working on succession plans and so entered the COVID crisis with some much-needed depth. 
The response from operational management and our accounting team has been impressive and 
has made a huge difference for the outcomes that we have been able to achieve. In particular 
there have been three team members and one group that have gone above and beyond in respect 
to the COVID response, and they are our COO and President, Michael Hale, our CFO Philip 
Fitzgerald and our Real Estate Division leader Jerome Casanova. These three have demonstrated 
a level of commitment, creativity and leadership that has been critical during trying times. In 
addition, our Rooms Division Managers – Wray Morrell at the Edgewater, Natal Samuelson at the 
Gold Rush and Nicole Horlbeck at the High Country Inn - have done an exceptional job for the 
Partnership. In the face of tremendous challenges, they too have demonstrated impressive 
commitment and creativity. The rest of the team have distinguished themselves as well – every 
one of them - and I would mention each of them if room permitted. However, I wanted to single 
out a few of our staff who have really distinguished themselves during the COVID challenges.  

As always I invite you to contact me at either rthompson@nvdlp.com or by phone at (403) 660-
0073 with any comments or questions. Again, thank you for your ongoing support. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
  

 
Richard S. Thompson 
Co-founder and Chief Executive Officer 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

Hotel Division 

Without question, NVD’s hotel portfolio has faced its most difficult quarter ever in the second 
quarter of 2020.  

Even so, this semi-annual update is best understood as a story of resiliency and success in an 
economic environment that few could have predicted. The first quarter, despite significant 
weather issues, was ahead of plan and our hotels were well on their way to a best-ever year.  

Then COVID hit.  

For NVD, the first sign was cancellation of the Arctic Winter Games. Within 10 days, one hotel, the 
Edgewater, was closed and another, the Coast High Country Inn, was leased out to government as 
a COVID-facility. At NVD’s flagship Best Wester Gold Rush Inn (“Gold Rush”), occupancy was 
collapsing to near zero and nearly three-quarters of the staff had been laid off with dozens of 
seasonal hires cancelled. 

However, the management team, in particular the frontline Room Division Managers, responded 
remarkably well and were able to keep one open hotel running with minimal cost while 
redeployment plans were developed. 

In less than a month, contracts were in place with mining companies to offer isolation stays and 
the food and beverage division completely remade itself into a contract food preparation/delivery 
entity, providing significant revenue to offset low ADRs for mining stays.  

Through six months, F&B margins at the Gold Rush  are $20,803 ahead of the same period in 2019. 
That figure is helped by the strong February and March results, but during isolation stay the 
delivery model combined with strong personnel 
and cost-control has assisted with stronger than 
expected Hotel Division performance. 

Rooms have not performed as well as F&B, but in 
a collapsed tourism environment, they have held 
their own. NVD’s results compare favourably to 
the competition.  

The isolation stays have meant that the Gold Rush 
stayed open throughout the first wave of the 
pandemic (and is actually performing relatively 
well, as at this writing). The Edgewater reopened, 
once the isolation contracts were in place, and it 
has managed to stay open since the initial closure. 

Mining companies have been a significant factor in 
the COVID response. Through July, Victoria Gold 
and Minto have contributed more than $800,000 
in revenues and both companies have continued to book stays at our hotels. 

Helping results is the contribution from both the Federal and Territorial Governments. The federal 
Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) has enabled NVD to continue to employ the staff 
that survived the first wave of cuts, while allowing the Partnership to recall about half of the other 

A deck added to the Parking Lot for the Gold Pan Saloon in 
the Best Western Gold Rush Inn, is one innovative way NVD 

has expanded its ability to operate during the COVID 
economic impacts. 
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staff originally laid off, in order to assist with the reopening. The Yukon Territorial Government 
(“YTG”) contract at the Coast High Country Inn (“High Country”)  has kept those employees (except 
unionized F&B staff) fully employed and paid, while also generating a negligible profit on a monthly 
basis. This contract provides for burdened cost recovery on the property while it is utilized by YTG 
as a community health centre (now discontinued) and an isolation property (ongoing).  

The Downtown Hotel and Bedrock Motel have both suffered compared to the Whitehorse 
portfolio, but due to stringent cost controls, those outlets are beginning to perform. While a minor 
component of the portfolio, the Bedrock will likely outperform 2019, and lessons learned during 
COVID will help us manage costs much more effectively during the off-season. 

Overall, the portfolio is on track to generate $1.9M in margin with every outlet being in the black. 
This result includes significant support from CEWS, the Yukon Business Relief Fund and other 
supports, and although such a margin is not enough to cover interest costs, management fees and 
depreciation associated with the portfolio, it brings us very close to break even on the portfolio 
which is a significant accomplishment under the circumstances. 

As well, the forecast remains at risk, given the various unknowns that exist both locally and globally. 
However, management has shown a tenacity for dealing with each curve that COVID has presented 
and will work hard to achieve as close to positive net income as possible under the circumstances.  

The Partnership is blessed with an incredible team from the Room Division Managers and 
housekeeping supervisors through to the Food & Beverage Managers. All of the frontline managers 
have carried NVD through incredibly challenging times. 

Real Estate Division 

Despite COVID, NVD’s Real Estate Division, led by Jerome Casanova and Eduardo Castaneda, has 
excelled as vacancies have been absorbed and properties have been extremely well maintained 
during a period where NVD’s tenants are facing all of the COVID challenges as well.   

It may seem strange to read the word “excelled” in the midst of a pandemic, but there is no other 
way to characterize the performance of the team, especially given the circumstances. 

As with hotels, the initial months of 2020 delivered solid results and NVD was on pace to exceed 
2019 results and hit 2020 plan targets. The difference between the Real Estate division and the 
Hotel division is that while travel and tourism was and continues to be decimated by COVID, Real 
Estate revenues managed to largely keep pace. There is no doubt that this result was significantly 
supported by the introduction of the Yukon Business Relief Fund in April, by YTG, which provided 
coverage of fixed costs for business during the key period of COVID lockdown. This well-conceived 
program made it possible for those businesses shuttered by COVID to continue to pay rent until 
they could safely reopen. As that grant program comes to an end, the majority of businesses are 
likely in a position to pay their rents, if the economy can stabilize through fall and winter. 

To date, the Real Estate Division is more than $115,000 ahead of 2019 on a margin basis, and year 
end expectancy currently estimates the Partnership may end 2020 as much as $400,000 ahead of 
last year. Those results in a COVID environment can only be described as remarkable. 

Getting to that result was not straightforward and there is still risk in the portfolio, but there is no 
doubt that the portfolio and the division structure are in a better position to perform long term 
than they were at the beginning of the year. 



 NVD Semi-annual Report to Unitholders 
As at and for the six months ended June 30, 2020 

  
 

 Northern Vision Development LP Page 16 

 

The pandemic and the resulting requirement to dive deeply into all aspects of operations led to a 
significant reorganization of the Real Estate division in April/May. In retrospect, the reorganization 
was long overdue and results have supported that assessment. 

There is some risk that winter will be tougher than previous years, as retailers and restaurants have 
not been able to stockpile revenues through the summer, but that risk is likely manageable. 
Management will continue to focus on working closely with tenants so that problems can be 
proactively anticipated. We will hold resources in reserve until we are confident that we have fully 
recovered to a more stable and understandable economic reality.  

The story behind the numbers for the Real Estate Division is best captured by one simple fact – 
vacancy rates are actually lower in June than they were pre-COVID. That fact, on its own, warrants 
the “excel” tag.  NVD’s real estate portfolio now comprises over 200,000 of rentable square feet 
with a commercial vacancy rate at 3.7% (see chart).  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Commercial Vacancy had dropped to 3.7% by June, and River’s Reach II had benefitted from 
significant leasing efforts. At the writing of this report, there are only two unoccupied units at 
River’s Reach and the River’s Reach I unit has been placed into a lease to purchase contract.  

Jerome Casanova and his team have worked tirelessly to find tenants for vacant spaces and to find 
ways to sign leases despite the current economic environment. During the last six months they 
have renewed numerous leases, entered into new leases on some spaces for the first time, and 
worked closely with tenants who have battled with the economic impacts from the COVID crisis. 
Their tireless work has served the Partnership well.  

Adding to our success is the remarkable work ethic of our maintenance team, which has faced the 
death on the job of a key member (not work related) and seen its numbers reduced from nine and 
a half full-time employees to three. That staffing level cannot be maintained, and we will make 

Property
%

Leaseable SF 
(Total)

NVD 
Ownership

Leaseable SF 
(Net)

Vacant Square 
Footage (Net)

2020 
Vacancy 

NVD Place  28.2% 47,732    100% 47,732    6,168         12.9%
Yukon Centre Mall 23.9% 40,354    100% 40,354    -              0.0%
Waterfront Station 18.7% 31,653    100% 31,653    -              0.0%
MainSteele 10.6% 17,906    100% 17,906    -              0.0%
Taga Shro Station 6.0% 10,107    100% 10,107    -              0.0%
166 Titanium Way 4.5% 7,606      49% 3,727       -              0.0%
Nugget Beach 2.2% 3,680      100% 3,680       -              0.0%
Pizza Hut/Marble Slab 2.6% 4,413      100% 4,413       -              0.0%
Gold Rush Inn 2.0% 3,392      100% 3,392       -              0.0%
Carcross 0.8% 1,384      50% 692          -              0.0%
Trade Centre 1 0.6% 960          100% 960          -              0.0%
Subtotal Commercial 100% 169,187 97% 164,616  6,168         3.7%

Staff housing 7.0% 2,400 *    100% 2,400       -              0.0%
River's Reach (1 unit) 4.0% 1,347      100% 1,347       1,347         100.0%
River's Reach II (22 units) 89.0% 30,335    100% 30,335    4,852         16.0%
Subtotal Residential 100% 34,082    100% 34,082    6,199         18.2%

Total 203,269 198,698  12,367       6.2%

NVD Property Vacancy Rate ( Adjusted for JVs)
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some hires this Fall, but the team’s performance, led by director Eduardo Castaneda, has been 
remarkable. 

Adding to our Real Estate success is the sales and leasing outcomes at Rivers Reach II. It must be 
acknowledged that this project has underperformed expectations due to construction delays and 
associated cost overruns, but it remained profitable. More than that, the cash flow generated by 
sales and leases in summer 2020 have been vital in sustaining NVD through the pandemic and has 
helped the Partnership survive. As a result of the financing approach taken, NVD ended up with 
significant unencumbered assets right at the time that COVID impacts made this a real blessing for 
the Partnership. This fact and the clarity that River’s Reach II really is a standard setter in 
Whitehorse for condominium living makes the project something very much worth celebrating.  

Delays in construction were the key issue in driving up costs and hurting sales efforts. While the 
project has remained profitable and has contributed development profits in both 2019 and 2020, 
it has fallen far short of expectations. With just over half of the units sold, the profitability level is 
less than half of original expectations. 
Successful leasing efforts will help overall 
project economics, and the Partnership will 
continue to sell units over the course of 
time. Currently the project is contributing 
over $30,000 per month in net rental 
income to the Partnership.  

 

 

 

 

 

Building B at River’s Reach was 
completed in 2020. The project has been 
well received and sets the standard for 

condo living in Whitehorse. 
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Development Activities 

Despite the challenging environment, NVD is moving forward with a major capital project – the 84-
unit Normandy supported independent living facility. 

As of this writing, NVD has obtained commitments from various sources for $9.5M in grants toward 
the project. Additionally, CMHC is financing the remainder of the project (~$21M) over a 50-year 
amortization period with a 10-year fixed rate of between 0.7 and 2%. The final rate is expected to 
be around 1%, subject to final negotiations. 

In August construction commenced on this project. Ownership has been consolidated with three 
equal partners – NVD, Ketza Construction (“Ketza”) and Borud Industries – who bring a strong 
combination of skills to the project, with NVD providing overall management from a financial and 
operations perspective, and Ketza overseeing construction. NVD previously partnered with Ketza 
on the delivery of River’s Reach I and Waterfront Station.  

Project completion is expected in Spring 2022. 

Economic Commentary 

Currently, economic forecasting is informed guesswork, at best. Comments here are restricted to 
known localized economic indicators and activities that tie directly to NVD’s various operations. 

Mining continues to advance in the current year, certainly assisted by strong gold prices. Victoria 
Gold has succeeded in meeting production goals and is running at its highest level since opening. 
Minto has also succeeded in keeping production at rates required to provide sufficient cash flow 
for operations. Both of these companies have contracts with NVD for isolation stays of crew and 
contractors in Whitehorse before they move to their camps in the field, as is required by Yukon 
COVID protocols. Placer mining operations are also experiencing strong activity levels, and gold 
and other metal prices have provided miners with significant encouragement.  

Alexco Resources’ Keno Hill silver project just received its water license and is expected to start 
limited production by Q4 2020. NVD has reached out to Alexco in an effort to secure isolation 
contracts. Regardless, we are hopeful that activity in the Mayo region will help with our Dawson 
and Mayo hotel investments. 

Retail and restaurant activity are likely to slow significantly as a sustained downturn replaces the 
initial crash created by COVID. A recovery in 2021 is still possible, but in the short term, the 
prognosis is not good. Loan deferrals will end for all commercial entities in Q4, while operating 
food and beverage in a post-COVID world is going to be less profitable and government support is 
likely to be reduced and eventually end. Collectively, these factors point to increased operating 
costs and reduced consumer spending in Yukon, which in turn, has the potential to affect NVD’s 
real estate portfolio as well as its hotel assets. 

The biggest change facing NVD and other businesses in Yukon will be the decline of government 
support. As a company, reliance on government is an uncomfortable and dangerous habit to 
cultivate, but it is equally damaging to investor interests to avoid accessing these funds when other 
entities are able to obtain it. As such, we will continue to access the federal wage subsidy for as 
long as it is available. Current expectation is that the wage subsidy will continue through 2020, 
though on a sliding scale with diminishing support over time. Indications that fixed costs grants will 
continue for tourism operators is a positive short-term sign, and NVD will apply for these funds as 
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long as we qualify for them. If only tourism businesses are eligible, retail and restaurant entities 
may suffer, which is what gives rise to the risk in the real estate portfolio. 

Overall, the winter prognosis is stable to declining. Mining activity will increase, but those gains 
will be offset by a potential softening in consumer demand. COVID is the wild card when it comes 
to making any projections.  

Outlook 

Overall, 2020 results will fall short of original plans, which were forecast in the pre COVID period. 
COVID related impacts have placed significant downward pressure on hotel performance, with the 
result being original planned net income levels will be impossible to achieve. The company has 
focused on establishing new forecasts to ensure long term survival and has made a continuous 
effort to improve on these newly forecasted levels.  

However, in the context of a pandemic and subsequent economic fallout, the outlook is relatively 
positive, when compared against expectations the Partnership first worked up in early April 2020 
in response to the impacts. All of the hotels are on pace to deliver a slight positive margin. With 
the recent extension of the lease with YTG Health at the Coast High Country Inn, results for that 
hotel will be slightly improved over June forecasts, while continued isolation contracts have the 
potential to allow NVD to keep the Edgewater Hotel open later into the fall. This decision will be 
taken if it presents favorable alternatives to once again shuttering that facility.  

Rentals continue to perform, and while forecasts allow for a falloff in revenues, there is potential 
to sustain the current pace and achieve original plan expectations. The Partnership is on track to 
exceed 2019 results for that division.  

Management will continue to push for 
revenue growth, while working to reduce 
expenses, but there are too many variables 
to reliably predict final year end results at 
this time.  

 
Above: Michael Hale, NVD President and COO 
speaks to entrepreneurs and the Northlight 
Innovation Hackathon.  
 
Left: NVD Board Member Ian McAuley meets 
with Yukon Premier Sandy Silver at the PDAC 
conference in Toronto earlier in the year.  
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MESSAGE FROM SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
 
While it is irregular to read what follows in a semi-annual report, this year is nothing, if not 
irregular. As a result, we felt that as senior leaders in NVD we needed to provide some insight into 
our CEO’s leadership through this pandemic.  

Rich is remarkable and everyone affiliated with NVD knows and understands that. It has become 
our mundane reality to have a leader of his caliber in place. But for those of us in the operations 
and management of this company, we have survived and, in our way, thrived through the most 
difficult quarter of any of our careers. That would not have been possible without a CEO who has 
displayed such integrity on a daily basis in his dealings no matter how difficult the conversation.  

When the pandemic hit, Rich brought calm and confidence. He immediately brought the team 
together – the whole company – and gave us a sense of purpose and clarity of goals. The fact he 
did this from a distance and continues to do so is a testament to the trust in him that exists 
amongst our team.  

Getting through this past quarter took everything that every member of this team had to give. 
But wasted effort wouldn’t have done anything for the Partnership. Because we had Rich in the 
CEO role, we were able to direct that effort and passion and commitment into clear actions and 
steps that contributed to the relative success of our company through the first phase of the 
pandemic. 

There is still a long way to go. As Rich always says, “we are in a marathon; not a sprint.” And for 
us, that’s fine. We know we will get through it and we know we will do better than most. We know 
that because we have a CEO that brings leadership, experience and compassion to his role.  

We felt this semi-annual report would have been incomplete without this message. Thank you for 
offering us the opportunity to share our thoughts. 

 
Michael Hale, President and COO & Philip Fitzgerald, CFO 
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 

The financial statements of Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership, which are unaudited and 
prepared by management, as at and for the period ended June 30, 2020, are included with this semi-annual 
report. This summary should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes thereto.  

Statements Prepared Under ASPE 

The Partnership’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020 continue to utilize the Accounting 
Standards for Private Enterprise (“ASPE”) which was adopted for the first time by the Partnership in 2011. The 
Partnership can move to the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) framework at a time of its 
choosing, should it believe there is merit in such a change in accounting standards. 

Financing Activities 

Long Term Debt:  At June 30, 2020 long term debt was $39,702,905 a $1,095,298 or 2.8% increase during the 
period (December 31, 2019 - $38,607,607).  This increase was primarily the result of an increase in the First 
Nations Bank Loan secured by NVD Place which involved increasing the debt by $1.2 million and extending the 
term of that financing.  Additionally the last remaining component of a facility with BDC and secured by the 
Whitehorse hotels was drawn down in association with work on the Best Western Gold Rush Inn Property 
Improvement Program. The current phase of that program was completed in May 2020 at which time the 
entire $8 million facility had been drawn down. These loan increases were offset by some principal repayment 
during the term.  

In response to COVID impacts, NVD’s lenders provided periods from three to six months of principal deferrals 
to assist with cash flow during the period. NVD elected to take on a three month principal deferral on its  
Scotiabank loan secured by the Main Steele property, and elected to take out six month principal deferrals on 
most of its other loans covering periods from as early as April to as late as October 2020.  

The following table summarizes the loan deferrals entered into with NVD’s financing partners: 

 

A total of $1,085,291 in principal has or will be deferred by October 2020 (2019 - $Nil) with the repayment 
either spread over the remaining life of the loan or added to the end of the amortization period.  

Short Term Debt: Short term debt had been arranged to support the construction financing requirements of 
River’s Reach II. During the period a total of $3.5 million was repaid to lenders leaving a total of $Nil outstanding 
at the end of the period ($3.5 million December 31, 2019).  

Loan Description Principal Deferral Period

First Nation Bank of Canada NVD Place 6,064,560      155,982     May - Oct
Royal Bank of Canada 1. WSBC loan through 45798 Yukon Inc) 2,641,968      67,156       May - Oct
Royal Bank of Canada 2. Spook Creek Station 1,230,572      18,303       May - Oct
Scotiabank 1. Main Steele 2,166,313      17,400       Apr - Jun
Business Development Bank of Canada 16. Whitehorse Hotel s 12,701,980    443,250     May - Oct
Business Development Bank of Canada 19. Whitehorse Holel s  B 7,650,152      199,980     May - Oct
Business Development Bank of Canada 17. Yukon Centre Mall  3,280,040      114,420     May - Oct
Business Development Bank of Canada 20. Yukon Centre Mall  985,920          25,000       May - Oct
Business Development Bank of Canada Pizza Hut 550,000          30,000       May - Oct
Business Development Bank of Canada Mighty Wa sh 308,200          13,800       May - Oct

25,476,292    1,085,291 
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Weighted Average Cost of Debt: At June 30, 2020 the weighted average cost of long-term debt decreased to 
3.95% compared to 4.60% as at December 31, 2019. The decline was due to changes in variable rates that came 
into effect in March 2020 in response to the COVID impacts which caused the Bank of Canada to reduce its 
rates. The weighted average cost of variable debt was 3.55% and the weighted average cost of fixed debt was 
4.08% as at June 30, 2020 (5.05% variable and 4.47% fixed at December 31, 2019). NVDLP’s debt includes 76% 
fixed rate and 24% variable rate loans at June 30, 2020 (December 31, 2019 – 78% fixed and 22% variable).  

The total debt to equity ratio decreased to 0.98:1 (December 31, 2019 – 1.02:1) during the period. Short term 
debt payout was responsible for the decrease, offset by a reduction in equity balance related to a payout of 
$1.5 million in unitholder distributions during the period ($1 million – 2019). 

Currently, the Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk with each 1% rise in its variable interest rates 
responsible for an annual increase of $97,386 in interest expense. (December 31, 2019 - $92,149).  

Equity Fundraising: Given the uncertainties associated with COVID impacts, the Partnership suspended a 
planned formal liquidity event in Q2 2020. For the same reason, the Distribution Reinvestment program was 
suspended until a reliable NAV per unit estimate can be determined. As a result, no equity was raised during 
the period.  

Unit Issuance and redemption. In accordance with an arrangement made early in 2019 associated with the 
sale of a River’s Reach II unit, a Unitholder redeemed 100,000 units in partial consideration for the purchase of 
a River’s Reach unit. As a reliable indicator of value was not available on closing, the unit price of the most 
recent purchase of units by this Unitholder was used for the transaction. This was less than the December 31, 
2019 NAV estimate per unit which had originally been the basis for the transaction, and all parties agreed to 
the reduction in the unit value. A total of 19,681 units were released from escrow to a group of First Nations 
investors in relation to a condo purchase transaction in 2019 undertaking on a building-for-units-basis. The 
units were held in escrow until certain provisions of the transaction were met. Accordingly, there was a net 
decrease of 80,319 units outstanding during the period to 26,676,602 (26,756.921 as at December 31, 2019). 

GP Smooth Transition Payment As part of the restructuring and smooth transition payment arrangements 
made with NVD Corp, a total of 272,232 units have been set aside for issuance to the shareholders of NVD 
Corp. This transaction is expected to take place in 2020 in association with a concurrent liquidity event. The 
smooth transition activities have been delayed by the impacts of COVID on unit values.  

Retention Awards  

The impacts of COVID were assessed and the board determined that there needed to be a suspension of the 
Retention Awards program. This will have an impact of reducing costs associated with this program going 
forward until such time it is reinstated. However, it made dealing with the conditions associated with the 
Retention Awards difficult, as members had the right to cash out their awards at the most recent NAV estimate 
per unit and that was clearly no longer a valid estimate of value given COVID impacts. Board and management 
members who held retention awards, including one departing board member who was forced to cash in his 
retention awards, were approached to make reasonable adjustments to the program.  

It was agreed that board and management would have the right to exercise their retention awards at the most 
recent price that they had bought into the program or had rewards issued at, which was $2.84 per unit based 
on June 30, 2019 NAV per unit estimate. The departing board member also agreed to this pricing which was 
below the $2.93 NAV per unit specified by the program. In addition board members and management were 
asked to elect to cash out some or all of their RA units at this price but to hold payout until Q4 2020 to assist 
with cash flow. The departing board member was asked to agree to receiving half of his payout in Q2 2020 and 
half in Q4 2020 and he elected to do so.  
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As a result of these arrangements all pay utilizing RAs was suspended and in addition board members agreed 
to take a reduction in pay and a payout of their fees in Q4 2020. Management agreed to a reduction in salary 
and to have the privilege of being paid in part with RAs to be suspended. The following transactions occurred 
as a result of these program modifications 

a. A departing board member was paid out $79,580 in RAS half in cash, and half payable Q4 2020 

b. The remaining five board members elected to cash out $132,631 in RAs payable in Q4. One board 
member retained 50% of their RA balances as allowed in the revised program. As a result, that board 
member will hold 6,087 in RAs at the end of the year.  

c. A total of seven senior managers held RAs. Under the program they elected to cash out $141,147 in 
RAs for payout in Q4 2020. Four of the managers elected to hold onto 50% of their RAs and one elected 
to hold onto 17% of his RAs such that management will hold 34,020 in RAs at the end of the year.  

The liability for the RAs has been fully burdened on the financial statements in the year of issuance. Once these 
RAs are extinguished later in 2020, this liability will be significantly reduced.  

Working Capital 

Accounts receivable at June 30, 2020 decreased to $2,265,287 from $3.019,546 at the end of 2019. Activity 
levels have decreased related to COVID, but receivables are also up due to outstanding subsidies qualified for 
but not yet paid by governments. At the end of 2019 there were a substantial amount of banquet collections 
outstanding.  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaled $3,343,903 at period end (December 31, 2019 - $3,699,959). 
This marks a return to normal levels of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, as there were significant 
construction costs and holdbacks outstanding at the end of 2019, related to both the Midnight Sun and River’s 
Reach II projects, which inflated this item to unusual levels.  

Loans receivable.  The balance was $1,601,954 at June 30, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $1,259,512). The increase 
is largely related to short term loans provided to support River’s Reach II purchases with a contractor who is 
working off the balance using current projects with NVD. A further $140,000 increase was associated with 
tenant fit up loans, which were offset by paydown of the loans based on regular repayment requirements.  

Development Activities 

The Limited Partnership finished development of River’s Reach Phase II in the period. During the period direct 
expenditures of $1,401,887 were incurred (2019 - $8,551,445).  

Capital Expenditures on Property and Equipment 

The partnership spent $1.18 million on property and improvements in the period (2019- $1.29 million).  A total 
of $713,000 was spent on regular hotel improvements (2019 - $1,061,586), $360,141 on the renovation of the 
Midnight Sun (2019 - $nil), $609,000 was used to acquire a commercial condominium in Water Front Station 
(2019 - $nil), $33,767 (2019 -$29,870) was expensed on general and corporate assets and the balance of 
$75,738 was spent on property renovations (2019 -$136,704).  

Operating Activities, 

Revenues: Revenues increased by 57.4% to $15.84 million in 2020 (2019 – $10.06 million). The increase was 
based on $9.3 million of River’s Reach II sales being recorded in the period ($Nil – 2019). Excluding this one 
time difference, operating revenues were $6.59 million, a decrease of 35.0% from $10.06 million recorded in 
the first six months of 2019. Hotel revenues were down 45.0% to $4.47 million in 2020 (2019 - $8.12 million). 
Rental Revenues were up 8.0% to $1.92 million (2019 - $1.77 million).  The Mighty Wash car wash and other 
operating activities experienced a 9.8% decrease in revenues to $154,775 from $179,141. The decrease in 
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operating revenues was almost exclusively in the second quarter and related to the impacts of COVID which 
eliminated a substantial amount of Hotel Division revenue. This impact is expected to be reflected in the results 
for the next six months and into 2021.  

Direct expenses: Direct Expenses were up by 90.1% to $12.31 million (2018 - $6.48 million) driven by the 
inclusion of $8.85 million in River’s Reach II costs related to sales in the period. Without the one time inclusion, 
Direct Expenses were down 48.1% to $3.36 million (2019 - $6.48 million). Expenses in the Hotel Division were 
down 51.8% to $2.85 million net of subsidies received related to COVID. Expenses directly related to 
commercial rentals decreased by 12.0% in the period due to a reduction of vacancy. Operating costs remained 
relatively constant at $135,418 (2019 - $133,440).  

Gross Profit declined 1.7% to $3.53 million as a consequence of the foregoing (2019- $3.59 million). Excluding 
the contribution from River’s Reach II, Gross Profit was $3.18 million, an 11.5% drop from the 2019 results.  

Expenses: Amortization expense was flat at $1.19 million in 2020 (2019 - $1.19). A staff housing asset was sold 
as well as a River’s Reach Condo; however, 19 River’s Reach II units became operating assets, requiring half 
year depreciation in 2020. Combined with normal depreciation on existing assets, and a much lower level of 
capital spending due to COVID, we end up with flat amortization year over year.  

Interest expense increased by 5.0% to $782,231 (2019 - $745,283). A number of factors were in play either 
positively or negatively impacting interest expense. Variable rate reduction in March reduced expected costs 
associated with the variable portfolio. An increase in the value of the loan secured by NVD Place of $1.2 million 
caused expenses to increase. In addition, the Partnership stopped capitalizing loans associated with River’s 
Reach during the period.  In 2020, a total of $126,983 in interest expense was capitalized (2019 - $204,959). At 
period end, no interest expense was being capitalized. 

Wages expense represents staff not directly working in operational areas such as Hotels. The $546,027 expense 
incurred in 2020 (2019 - $539,413) represented a slight increase from the previous year. This variance is 
misleading from the fact the Partnership has increased its senior management team compared to the previous 
period, ceased capitalizing salaries against Rivers Reach II ($57,817 in 2020 compared to $115,646 in 2019), 
commenced allocating salary expenses to the Midnight Sun Renovation and KBC projects totaling $115,000  
and was the recipient of $198,492 CEWS payments in the period. Removing the CEWS payments, wages would 
have been $744,519 a 38% increase over 2019. CEWS payments are expected to be continued to be received 
over the balance of the year on a decreasing basis.  

Office expenses decreased by 12.6% to $102,913 (2019 - $117,749). This $14,836 decrease is the result of a 
number of factors including the reassignment of Calgary office lease in May 2020 to another party, and 
reductions in expenses such as computer repair as our total staff compliment was reduced.  

Governance costs decreased 35.9% to $42,847 for the period (2019 - $66,792). In the first quarter of 2020 a 
board member resigned and has not yet been replaced. In addition, board members elected to take a decrease 
in compensation until the Partnership works through the COVID related impacts. Finally, board travel costs 
have been reduced as COVID has forced meetings to take place online.     

Professional fees decreased 7.1% to $43,113 in 2020 (2019 - $46,398). The change relates to timing differences 
on accruals as there was a catch up payment made in 2019. 

Marketing expenses decreased to $49,873 from $66,792 in 2019, marking a 22.1% decline. Marketing during 
COVID is of questionable value, so funds have been set aside for when they can have a positive impact. 
Sponsorships have continued at similar levels to previous years.  

Travel costs: Despite a reduction in CEO travel since COVID impacts started, there was other senior 
management travel in Q1. Accordingly, travel costs were actually up during the period to $11,345 from $9,631 
in the previous year – a 17.8% increase. 
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Due to all the factors noted above, expenses decreased marginally by 0.4% to $2.76 million (2019 - $2.77 
million), net of subsidies received for CEWS.  

Income from operations:  Income from operations decreased by 6.1% to $763,568 (2019 - $812,919). 
Eliminating the one time impact of River’s Reach II sales, operating income was down 50.6% to $411,352. This 
was of course due to the decreased margin contribution from the Hotel Division.  

Sales Activities and Interest Income  

Interest income: The Partnership has provided vendor take back financing on Titanium Way lot sales, tenant fit 
up (particularly for the Waterfront Station and NVD Place projects) and with partners with whom NVD operates 
joint ventures. These loans are at interest rates that are higher than the Partnership’s weighted average 
borrowing costs. The $40,058 collected in the period was 1.8% higher than last year (2019 - $39,340) which 
reflects several months of impact from a new loan put in place for a River’s Reach II condo sale. 

Gains on sales were $201,388 during the period. (2019 - $Nil) derived from River’s Reach I condo sales, the sale 
of the Stewart Road staff house and the disposal of a utility vehicle as part of an insurance claim.  

2020 Total Comprehensive Income increased by 17.9% to $1.05 million (2019 - $0.85 million).  This resulted 
from the combination of all of the foregoing factors.  

Risk 

The Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk, wherein the Bank of Canada can move to change rates, leading 
to similar moves by financial institutions that NVD deals with. This can change the rates charged on the 
Partnership’s variable interest rate debt. As discussed earlier in this analysis, NVD has taken steps to reduce 
the risk associated with these fluctuations by increasing the skew to fixed rate debt in its mortgage portfolio 
over the past few years. Management believes that its current weighing of fixed versus variable debt is a 
prudent mix.  

Finally, Hotel Division performance is impacted by currency fluctuations, energy costs and other factors outside 
management control such as increased competition and pandemics. Management is focused on managing the 
downside associated with such risks.  
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

The accompanying financial statements of the Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership 
and all the information in this annual report are the responsibility of management and have been 
approved by the Board of Directors.  

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian 
Accounting Standards for Private Enterprises (“ASPE”).  Financial statements are not precise since 
they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments.  When alternative accounting 
methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances, 
in order to ensure that the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects.   

The Partnership maintains systems of internal accounting and administrative controls of quality 
that are consistent with reasonable cost.  Such systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and the Partnership's 
assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Partnership's management is responsible for ensuring that the Partnership fulfills its 
responsibilities for financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving 
the financial statements. 

The Board of Directors review and approve the Partnership's semi-annual financial statements. 
The Board of Directors meet periodically with management, as well as the external accountants, 
to discuss internal controls over the financial reporting issues, to satisfy themselves that each 
party is properly discharging their responsibilities, and to review the annual report, the financial 
statements and the external accountants' report.  The Board of Directors takes this information 
into consideration when approving the financial statements for issuance to the partners.  The 
Board of Directors also consider the engagement of the external accountants. 

The financial statements as at and for the period ended June 30, 2020 have not been audited.  
 
August 18, 2020 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
 
Lori Simcox, Director and Audit Committee member 
 

 
 
 

Piers McDonald, Director and Chairman of the Board 
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As at    June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 

   (unaudited) (audited)  

ASSETS      

 Cash  (note 2)   $         1,760,808     $          892,929 

 Accounts receivable  2,265,287   3,019,546  

 Inventories   230,343  295,751  

 Loans receivable (note 11)   1,601,964 1,259,512  

 Property and equipment (note 3)    68,158,113   57,601,089  

 Properties held for sale  2,197,231 - 

 Property under development (note 4)   4,443,363   23,966,405  

 Other (note 5)                 1,532,369  1,153,059  

      $       82,189,468  $     88,188,291  

LIABILITIES & PARTNERS' EQUITY    

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $         1,507,364 $       3,699,959  

 Customer deposits    316,369   942,809 

 Short term debt   - 3,500,000 

 Long term debt (note 9)   39,702,905   38,607,607  

    41,526,638       46,750,375  

Partners' equity (note 14)           40,662,930 41,437,916  

      $       82,189,568  $     88,188,291 

 
 
On behalf of the Board: 
 
 
 
 
Lori Simcox, Director and Audit Committee member 
 

 
 
 

Piers McDonald, Director and Chairman of the Board 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership  
Consolidated Statements of Partners’ Equity 

 

 

 Six Months Ended  Year Ended  

 June 30 2020 December 31 2019 
 
Partners' equity, beginning of period  $          41,437,916   $         38,409,977 
Net income for the period                     1,005,014 2,849,798 
Units issued -                   1,178,141   
Units redeemed 280,000 - 
Partners’ equity, before distribution 40,662,930                    42,437,916 
Less distribution                   (1,500,000) (1,000,000)   
Partners' equity, end of the period   $          40,662,930  $         41,437,916 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 2019 

    
Revenues    
 Sale of properties held for sale $              9,301,251 $                         - 

 Hotels  4,466,359             8,116,973 

 Rentals                 1,917,073                 1,774,370  

 Other operations                     154,775                     171,591  

  15,839,457  10,062,934 
Direct expenses    
 Cost of properties held for sale 8,949,035 - 

 Hotels  2,850,923                 5,913,968  

 Rentals                     376,614                     428,141  

 Other operations 135,418 133,440 

  12,311,990   6,475,548 
Gross profit                3,527,467                3,587,386  
 
Expenses    
 Amortization                  1,185,550                  1,185,219  

 Interest                     782,231                     745,283  

 Wages                     546,027                     539,413  
 Office                       102,913                        117,749  

 Governance                        42,847                       66,792 

 Professional fees  43,113                        46,398  

 Marketing                        49,873                        63,981  

 Travel                       11,345                        9,631  

   2,763,899   2,774,446  
Income from operations                    763,568                    812,919  
 
Other income    
 Interest income   40,058   39,340  

 Gain on disposal of property and equipment  201,388   -  

Total Comprehensive Income   $              1,005,014   $             852,259  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

 

For the six months ended June 30,   2020 2019 

      
Cash flows from operating activities    

 Net income for the period                 $             1,005,014  $            852,259 

 Add back    
  Amortization of financing fees and other assets                      34,465  21,031  

  Cost of development properties 8,949,035  -  

  Amortization of property and equipment                1,181,515                1,181,515  

  Gain on disposal of property and equipment  (201,388) - 

              10,968,641 2,054,805 

 Changes in non-cash working capital balances    
  Accounts payable and accrued labilities  (2,192,595)            835,060  

  Accounts receivable               754,259               (412,407)  

  Other assets              (379,310)             (535,849) 

  Inventories                65,408                 (38,826)  

  Deferred revenues              (626,440)                  436,549  

    8,593,997  2,339,330 
Cash flows from investing activities    
 Loans receivable              342,442             (6,693) 

 Proceeds on sale of property  1,727,467             -  

 Purchase of property and equipment         (5,699,087)         (10,660,963) 

              (3,629,178) (10,667,963) 
Cash flows from financing activities    
 Financing fees paid, net  66,946  (176,991)  
 Advances (repayment) of short-term debt  (3,500,000) 5,000,000 

 Advances of long-term debt   1,727,467   7,257,391  

 Units issued (redeemed)     (280,000)               343,029 

 Distribution to unitholders   (1,500,000)  (1,000,000) 

 Repayment of long-term debt   (758,179)  (2,709,750) 

    (4,069,940) 8,713,678 
Increase in cash during period           867,879 385,335  
 
Cash, beginning of period             892,929             1,974,806  

 

Cash, end of period  $           1,760,808  $          2,360,159  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Nature of Operations         

Northern Vision Development Limited Partnership (the "Partnership") was formed as a limited partnership under 
the laws of Alberta on January 15, 2004 and was extra-provincially registered under the Partnership and Business 
Names Act of the Yukon Territory on March 22, 2004.  The Partnership's principal business is the acquisition, 
development and sale of commercial, industrial, residential and hospitality real estate located in Whitehorse, Yukon. 

The partnership consists of a general partner, Northern Vision Development Corp., and a number of limited 
partners holding partnership units.  

Pursuant to the terms of the Limited Partnership Agreement, the General Partner has unlimited liability for the debts 
and obligations of the Limited Partnership. The liability of each Limited Partner is limited to the amount of capital 
contributed or agreed to be contributed, the Limited Partner's assumed share of the mortgage financing, and their 
share of undistributed income. 

Basis of Accounting   

These financial statements reflect only the   assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the Partnership and 
therefore do not include any other assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses of the partners or the liability of the 
partners for income taxes on earnings of the Partnership. These financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises (ASPE).   

Basis of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company, its controlled subsidiaries 
and joint venture interests. Control is achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The results of subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. All intercompany transactions and balances 
are eliminated on consolidation. The financial statements of the Company’s subsidiaries are prepared using 
consistent accounting policies and the same reporting date as the Company. These consolidated financial statements 
include the accounts of the partnership and wholly owned subsidiaries Iditarod Landscaping Inc., 44588 Yukon Inc.  
and 45978 Yukon Inc., the partnership’s 50% interest in the Dawson Downtown Partnership and its other joint 
venture interests.  

Partnership 

The financial statements reflect the accounts of the partnership only and consequently, do not include all assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses of the partners. No provision has been made in these accounts for partners' 
remuneration, interest on invested capital or income taxes. 

Inventories  

Inventories consist of residential properties held for sale and hotel supplies; which are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a first in, first out basis. A provision is raised when it is believed that 
the costs incurred will not be recovered on the ultimate sale of the inventory. 

Property and Equipment        

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization.  Capitalized costs include all direct costs 
related to development, construction and upgrades, other than ordinary repairs and maintenance, carrying costs 
including interest on debt to finance projects, property taxes and land acquisition costs. Amortization is provided 
using the following annual rates: 

 

 Category Method Rate  

Automotive                        Declining balance basis        30%     
Buildings                           Declining balance basis        4%  
Computer equipment         Declining balance basis           30% 
Furniture and fixtures Declining balance basis 20% 
Paving and landscaping Declining balance basis 8% 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

Long-lived   assets   consist of   property   and   equipment   and organization costs. Long-lived assets held for use are 
measured and amortized as described in the applicable accounting policies. In the event that facts and circumstances 
indicate that the Partnership's long-lived assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be 
performed.   Such an evaluation entails comparing the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with 
the asset to the asset's carrying amount to determine if a write-down to market value or discounted cash flow value 
is required.  Any impairment is included in earnings (loss) for the year.  The Partnership has determined that no 
circumstances exist that would require such an evaluation. 

Income Taxes                         

The Partnership is a limited partnership.  As a result, the Partnership's earnings or losses for federal income tax 
purposes are included in the tax returns of the individual partners.  Accordingly, no recognition has been given to 
income taxes in the accompanying financial statements of the Partnership.   Net earnings for financial statement 
purposes may differ significantly from taxable income reportable to unit holders as a result of differences between 
the tax basis and financial reporting basis of assets and liabilities and the taxable income allocation requirements 
under the partnership agreement. 

Revenue Recognition            

Properties are rented to tenants pursuant to rental agreements, which provide for various rental terms with 
nonrefundable rental payments. The rental agreements may be terminated at any time by the tenant without 
further obligation or cost upon sufficient notification. Revenue from rental agreements is recognized over the rental 
term as amounts become due. 

Hotel revenue is recognized as services are provided. 

Where revenue is obtained from the sale of properties held for sale or under development, it is recognized when the 
significant risks and rewards have been transferred, collection is reasonably assured and there are no significant 
obligations remaining. This normally takes place on exchange of unconditional contracts and transfer of title.  

Refundable tenant security deposits are recorded as a liability until repaid to the tenant.  

Use of Estimates   

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for 
private enterprises requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities  at  the  date  of  the  financial  statements  and  
the  reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant areas requiring management 
estimates relate to the determination of the impairment of assets, useful lives of property and equipment, inventory 
obsolescence, recognition of revenue and recovery of receivables. Actual results could differ from those estimates 
and may have an impact on future periods. 

Property under development  

The Partnership classifies properties under development as those that are or will be actively developed for the 
purposes of generating rental income or subsequent revenue from sales for the Partnership income for the 
Partnership. 

Non-Monetary Transactions          

All non-monetary transactions are measured at fair value unless: 
-  the transaction lacks commercial substance.; 
-  the transaction is an exchange of a product or property held for sale in the ordinary course of business for a 

product or property to be sold in the same line of business to facilitate sales to customers other than the 
parties to the exchange; 

-  neither the fair value of the assets or services received, nor the fair value of the assets or services given up 
is reliably measurable; or 

-  the transaction is a non-monetary, non-reciprocal transfer to owners that represents a spin-off or other form 
of restructuring or liquidation. 

A non-monetary transaction has commercial substance when an entity’s future cash flows are expected to change 
significantly as a result of the transaction. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

Jointly Controlled Assets 

Jointly controlled assets are entities over which the Partnership has joint control with one or more unaffiliated 
entities. Jointly controlled investments are accounted for using the proportionate consolidation method as 
follows: 
- the balance sheet includes the Partnership’s share of the assets that it controls jointly and the liabilities for which 

it is jointly responsible; 
- the statement of operations includes the Partnership's share of the income and expenses of the jointly controlled 

entity; and 
- gains on transactions between the partnership and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 

Partnership's interest in the   joint ventures and losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of 
an impairment of the asset. 

Financial Instruments  

Accounts receivable and notes receivable are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short term loans, promissory notes, customer deposits, related party 
balances and long-term debt are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. 
Financing and transaction costs associated with long-term debt are netted against the carrying value of the long-
term debt and are amortized over the financing term using the effective interest rate method. Financial assets are 
recognized on the date the Partnership commits to purchase or sell the asset and derecognized when the Partnership 
no longer controls the contractual rights that comprise the financial instrument, which is normally the case when the 
instrument is sold or all the risks and rewards of ownership have transferred to an independent third party.  
 

2. Cash 

As at June 30,  2020 2019 

Restricted $         83,540 $        488,331 
Unrestricted 1,677,269 1,871,829 
 $   1,760,808 $    2,360,160 

 
  

3. Property and Equipment 

as at June 30, 2020 (unaudited)  
 December 31, 2019 (audited) 

  Cost Amortization   NBV    Cost Amortization  NBV 

Automotive  $       329,993   $     233,072   $       96,922   $       329,993   $       241,721   $          88,272  
Buildings 69,234,192 13,769,844  55,464,348 58,888,038 13,558,358 45,329,680 
Computer and software 988,024 751,773  236,251 984,180 736,686 247,494 
Furniture and fixtures 5,372,403 3,810,362  1,562,040 5,202,289 2,754,245 2,448,044 
Land and improvements 10,079,571 -  10,079,571 9,751,802 - 9,751,802 
Paving and landscaping 1,825,760 1,106,778  718,981 1,825,760 1,089,963 735,797 

  $  87,829,942   $19,671,829   $ 68,158,113  $ 76,982,062  $  18,380,973  $  58,601,089 
 
During the period, the partnership recorded a gain of $201,388 (2019 - $nil) from the sale of Property and Equipment.  
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4. Property Under Development  
 

Property under development consists of assets under active development or lands identified for development by the 
Partnership for sale to third parties.  During the period, these assets comprised of three vacant land parcels (2019 - 
four) and a hotel undergoing renovation.  

During period expenses of $2,463,278 (2019 - $9,588,565) were capitalized and interest of $92,432 (2019 – $204,951) 
were capitalized.   

5. Property Held for Sale  

Property held for sale consists of three residential condominiums not currently leased (2019 - none). They are valued 
at cost.  

6. Other Assets   

As at  June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Prepaid expenses  $       687,978   $       455,479 
Goodwill  308,719   308,719  
Other assets  535,671   388,861  

  $    1,532,369   $   1,153,059  

7. Bank Overdraft  

The bank overdraft is secured by a mortgage on one (2019 - two) residential condominiums for a maximum of 
$550,000 (2019 - $500,000). During the period, $181,467 of this amount was pledged in the form of irrevocable 
standby letters of credit related to landscaping commitments in the Rivers Reach Phase II project (2019 - $181,467).   

 
8. Customer Deposits  

At period end the Partnership had $316,369 (2019 - $942,809) in customer deposits. Of this amount $47,957 
represented deposits related to sales in the Rivers Reach Project and were held in a solicitor’s trust account (2019 - 
$405,979). The balance of $268,414 (2019 - $240,112) represents deposits received related to commercial leases.   

           
9. Long Term Debt  

As at June 30, 2020 there was $387,954 (2019 - $373,990) in deferred financing fees netted against long term debt. 
 

During the period, amortization of deferred financing fees amounted to $40,683 (2019 - $17,327). New fees of 
$66,946 were incurred in the period (2019 - $122,783).   
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9.    Long Term Debt (continued) 
 June 30, 2020   Dec 31, 2019 

  
 

Loan payable to BDC -with fixed monthly repayments of $73,875 
principal plus interest, fixed at 4.35% for seven years and due April 30, 
2034 secured by a first mortgage over three hotel properties 

$  12,385,518 $  13,124,152  

Loan payable to BDC - variable interest at 3.55%, with monthly 
repayments of principal and interest maturing on April 30, 2036 secured 
by a first mortgage over three Whitehorse hotel properties. 
 

7,769,033 7,260,110  

Loan payable to First Nations Bank - interest at 3.95%, due October 31, 
2020, monthly principal repayments of $25,997 plus interest, secured 
by: first mortgage and assignment of rents on Partnership's interest in 
the land and buildings at 4201 4th Avenue, Whitehorse. 
 

 6,025,274  4,935,175  

Loan payable to BDC - interest at 4%, with fixed monthly repayments of 
$19,230 principal plus interest at 4%, due April 30, 2034 secured by a 
first mortgage and assignment of rents at 2180/2190 2nd Avenue 
Whitehorse. 
 

 3,198,931 3,273,600  

Loan payable to RBC - interest at 4.37%, due May 31, 2022, payable 
with fixed monthly repayment of $20,944 of principal plus interest, 
secured by a first mortgage and assignment of rents at 2237 2nd 
Avenue Whitehorse. 

2,639,900 2,669,653  

Loan payable to Scotiabank – interest at 4.22% with fixed monthly 
repayment of $4,825 of principal plus interest, due June 30, 2023 
secured by a first mortgage and assignment of rents over 212 Main 
Street, Whitehorse. 

2,150,582 2,150,742  

Loan payable to RBC - interest at 4.54%, due May 1, 2021, payable in 
equal installments of $7,875 principal and interest, secured by a first 
mortgage on the property of 9016 Quartz Road, Whitehorse. 

1,230,572 1,238,425  

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1.00%, 
with fixed monthly principal repayments of $4,160 plus interest, due 
December 31, 2039 secured by a second mortgage and assignment of 
rents at 2180/2190 2nd Avenue. 

978,560 988,060  

Loan payable to Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in Trust - interest at 6%, due May 31, 
2034 with fixed monthly repayments of $6,751 of principal and interest. 
Secured by a mortgage on six properties located in Dawson City. 
 

746,529 774,978  

Loan payable to Scotiabank - interest at 3.04%, with fixed monthly 
repayments of $4,453 of principal and interest, due April 30, 2021 
secured by a first mortgage and assignment of rents over two 
commercial units at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse. 
 

  674,072 675,520  

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due 
March 23, 2029, with monthly principal repayments of $5,000 secured 
by land and building Lot 2A, Block B 335, Plan 2007-002, Whitehorse. 
 

 540,722  560,136  

Loan payable to First Nations Bank - interest at 5.23%, due October 1, 
2020, with monthly payments of $4,543 secured by a first mortgage on 
2193 and 2195 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse, and a general assignment over 
rental income from the properties. 
 

 435,289  445,074  

Balance brought forward $  38,774.983 $  37,646,093  
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9.    Long Term Debt (continued) June 30, 2020   Dec 31, 2019  
 
Balance brought forward  

 
$  38,774,983 

 
$  37,646,093 

 

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due 
June 23, 2032, with monthly principal repayments of $1,837 plus 
interest, secured by the following: first mortgage and assignment of 
rents on the Partnership's interest in the land and buildings at 166 
Titanium Way, Whitehorse. 

399,656 413,438  

Loan payable to BDC - interest at BDC's floating base rate less 1%, due 
May 23, 2031, with monthly principal repayments of $2,300 plus 
interest secured by the following: first mortgage on 121 Copper Road, 
Whitehorse, general assignment over property and equipment. 
 

  304,661   313,803  

Loan payable to Scotia Bank - interest at 4.23%, with fixed monthly 
repayments of $1,389 of principal and interest, due July 31, 2022 
secured by a first mortgage and assignment of rents over a commercial 
unit at 2237 2nd Avenue, Whitehorse. 
 

223,605 234,273  

 $  39,702,905 $  38,607,607  
 
The BDC floating base rate as at June 30 was 4.55% (December 31, 2019 – 6.05%). RBC and First Nations bank prime 
rate was 2.45% (December 31, 2019 – 3.7%). 
 

Principal repayments on long term debt over the next five years and thereafter are as follows: 
 

2021   $ 4,695,136 
2022      2,275,244 
2023       2,056,439 
2024      2,056,439 
2025      2,056,439 
Thereafter  $22,771,382 

 

The Partnership’s debt agreements contain covenants which require minimum levels of tangible equity, debt service 
coverage, limitations on indebtedness, and limit the use of proceeds of asset sales, all of which were compiled to as 
at June 30th, 2020.  
 

Due to the on going COVID pandemic the Partnership accepted offers of principal deferrals on eight loans in the 
period with terms of up to six months. In the period to June 30, 2020 $344,877 in payments were deferred with a 
further $654,954 projected to be deferred before year end ($nil in 2019).    

 
  

10. Financial Instruments and Risk Management  

The fair market values of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, short term loans, notes 
receivable, promissory note, customer deposits and related party advances approximate their carrying values due to 
their short term to maturity or capacity for prompt liquidation. The fair value of long-term debt approximates its 
carrying value because the interest rates float with market or are similar to market rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
The Partnership is exposed to normal credit risk resulting from the possibility that a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument defaults on their financial obligations; if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with 
the same counterparty; or if financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics such that they could 
be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions. The Partnership’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
concentrations of credit risk relate primarily to accounts receivable. To mitigate the credit risk, the Partnership has 
accounts receivable widely distributed among its customer base, performs regular credit assessments of its 
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customers, provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts, obtains advance deposits and requires many 
of its customers to pay rent at the beginning of each month. The Partnership therefore believes that there is minimal 
credit risk associated with the collection of its accounts receivable. 
 
Interest Rate Risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. Changes in market interest rates may have an effect on the cash flows associated 
with some financial assets and liabilities, known as cash flow risk, and on the fair value of other financial assets or 
liabilities, known as price risk. 
 
The Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its short-term financial instruments all of which are 
expected to be realized within one year. As described in note 5, a substantial portion of the Partnership’s long-term 
debt bears interest at floating rates. Fluctuations in these rates will impact the cost of financing incurred in the future. 
The Partnership’s various loans have rates between 3% an 7% and maturing between one and ten years. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. In the period, the 
Partnership met its third-party obligations, including all debt service requirements.  
 
Currency Risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Partnership is exposed to a small amount of currency risk because it does a 
small amount of transactions in US dollars. 

 
11. Loans Receivable  

As at  June 30, 2020  December 31, 2019 

  (prepared by management)  (audited)  

Mortgages receivable $               916,487   $              525,223  

Loans receivable                  463,433  309,588  

Advances to joint ventures                      222,035                    224,701 

   $             1,601,954   $           1,259,512  

    
 (i)  Mortgages receivable      

Mortgages receivable represent advances made to vendors of properties sold by the Partnership. In all cases, 
security is provided by the underlying property. Interest is charged at rates between 5% and 7%. The total interest 
earned on the loans in the period was $5,153 (2019 ‑ $16,749). The maximum exposure to the credit risk 
associated with the mortgages receivable occurs if the borrower defaults on repayment of the mortgages. 
Therefore, the carrying value of the mortgage receivable balance represents the Partnership's maximum 
exposure to the related credit risk without taking into account any collateral or any other credit enhancements. 
There were no impairments or impairment provisions recorded on the mortgages receivable as at June 30, 2020. 
  

(ii)  Loans receivable  
Loans receivable are with third party borrowers. The terms of the loans do not exceed five years, with interest 
rates ranging from nil to 8%. The total interest earned on the loans in the period was $17,383 (2019 ‑ $14,244). 
The maximum exposure to the credit risk associated with the loans receivable occurs if the borrower defaults 
on repayment of the mortgage. Therefore, the carrying value of the loans receivable balance represents the 
Partnership's maximum exposure to the related credit risk without taking into account any collateral or any 
other credit enhancements.  

 
(iii) Advances to Joint Ventures  

Advances to Joint Ventures are made to assist working capital requirements. Interest is charged at 5% when 
other joint venturers do not contribute their obligation. The total interest collected in the period was $6,378.47 
(2019 - $4,709). 
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12.    Related Party Transactions and Balances 

Amounts due to related parties are non-interest bearing, payable on demand and have arisen from the sales of 
product and provision of services and cash advances. Management has concluded that it is not practical to determine 
the fair value of related party loans as there is no comparable market data. 
 
During the period, the Partnership had the following transactions with parties that were either partners, employees 
or companies controlled by partners or employees of the Partnership: 

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 2019 

Paid:   

Financing charges and interest - paid to various investors in which the 
Partnership has proportionate interests.  $      52,170  $         159,368 

Fees Paid to Directors of the Partnership  42,847 66,792 
Properties purchased from investors and directors in which the Partnership 
has proportionate interests 

                         
1,214,880                           - 

Other fees - consists of miscellaneous and contractor payments paid to 
employees, partners, or companies controlled by employees of the 
Partnership 

                        
17,703 

                          
17,703 

  $      1,315,555   $    244,134 
 

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 2019 
 
Received or recovered from: 

  

Properties sold to investors and directors in which the Partnership has proportionate 
interests 

$   4,424,594 - 

Rent - received from a company controlled by an employee of the Partnership  30,755  30,755 

Interest - received from a company controlled by an investor and loans to 
employees and Joint ventures  

 13,115 10,694 

Other fees - consists of miscellaneous payments received for services and 
reimbursements for recoveries from joint ventures in which the Partnership 
has proportionate interests and related companies 

 21,950  12,200 

  $            53,648         53,648 

Loans    
Loans - received from Unitholders of the Partnership   $                         -  $       5,797,902 

   
The related party transactions occur in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange value (the 
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties), which approximates the arm's length 
equivalent value for services.  
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership had accounts receivable from related parties of $48,878 (2019 ‑ $88,677). 
As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership had amounts receivable from joint venture partners of $41,367 (2019 - $5,516).   
As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership had an amount due to its joint venture partners of $20,464 (2019 - $nil).  
As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership had accounts payable from related parties of $10,983 (2019 ‑ $3,198). 
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12. Reporting Segments  

For the six months ended  
June 30, 2020 Hotels  Rentals 

Property held 
for Sale 

Property Under 
Development Other  Total  

Revenue   $        4,466,359   $        1,917,073  $        9,301,251   $                     -    $     154,775   $  15,839,457  
Amortization                 491,281              656,583                            -                          -             37,686          1,185,550  
Interest Income                          -                          -                          -                             -           40,058               40,058  
Interest expense          364,519              417,712                           -                        -                       -            782,231  
Net income (loss)               759,636            466,164        352,216                             -        (573,002)         1,005,014  
Property and Equipment       21,341,020        46,817,092        2,197,231        4,443,463      280,162     74,798,807  

  

For the six months ended  
June 30, 2019 Hotels  Rentals 

Property Under 
Development Other  Total  

Revenue   $        8,116,973  $         1,730,922 $                      -    $    214,464   $  10,062,359  
Amortization  480,821  615,672             -   88,726  1,185,219 
Interest Income                    -   -                    -   39,340  39,340  
Interest expense  312,589  426,248                  -   8,105  746,942  
Net income (loss)  1,409,595  331,426                        -   (821,608)       919,414  
Property and Equipment     19,592,211   36,052,959     22,516,426  280,162   78,431,889 
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Partnership had five (2019 - four) reportable segments: hotels, rentals, property held for sale 
and property under development. Hotel operations consist of room rental and food and beverage services. Rental 
properties consist of commercial and residential properties held under long-term lease. Property under development 
consists of lands and buildings in construction. Property held for sale consists of vacant residential properties available 
for lease or sale. 

 
14.  Partners’ Equity  
 

At June 30, 2020, there are 26.676,602 basic and 26,954,390 fully diluted units outstanding (December 31, 2019 – 
26,756,921 basic and fully diluted).  During the period 100,000 units were redeemed as partial consideration for a 
River’s Reach II condo purchase for $280,000 and 19,621 units were released from escrow associated with a 2019 
building for units’ transaction to a group of First Nations investors. 
 

15.  Jointly Controlled Assets  
 

The financial statements include the Partnership’s proportionate interest in four (2019 - three) joint ventures.  All are 
located in the Yukon. 

Name  Interest  Activity  Year of inception  

Selkirk Properties Joint Venture 49% Lease of commercial properties  2008 
Dawson Downtown Hotel 50% Hotel Operations 2013 
North Carcross Joint Venture  50% Lease of commercial properties  2013 
Bedrock Motel 49% Hotel Operations 2019 
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15.  Jointly Controlled Assets (continued) 
 

  June 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 

Cash   $               88,720   $             150,128  

Accounts Receivable  56,494 36,480 

Prepaid Expenses  77,202 35,094 

Inventory  45,841 39,814 

 $            268.257  $             361,512  

Property and Equipment  2,660,608 1,956,193 

Property under Development  764,874 812,001 

Organization costs  125 125 

  $        3,693,864   $          3,129,831  

Accounts Payable and accrued liabilities  131,189  71,544  
Government Remittances  2,211 22,741 
 133,400 94,285 
Long Term Debt               1,296,436               1,462,729  

        1,429,836         1,534,273  

Equity             2,264,028             1,462,729  

  $        3,693,864   $          3,129,831  

Revenues    
Hotels $           425,824 $             768,486 
Rentals  56,847  56,847  

    825,333     825,333  

Expenses    
Hotels 463,772 707,106 
Property  5,918  8,054  
Amortization                   88,644                   53,471  
Interest                   32,948                   32,948  

Expenses                  591,282                  801,579  

Net income (loss) $           (108,695)  $               23,754  

   
Cash flows from operating activities  $           (161,321)  $              35,568  

Cash flows from investing activities  $           (224,852) $         (896,875) 

Cash flows from financing activities  $                16,000 $            463,926 
 

16. Changes on presentation of comparative financial statements  

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current period’s presentation. 

17. Subsequent Events  

Subsequent to the year-end, on March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the outbreak of a 
strain of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic which has resulted in a series of public health and 
emergency measures that have been put in place to combat the spread of the virus. The duration and impact of 
COVID-19 is unknown at this time and it is not possible to reliably estimate the impact that the length and severity 
of these developments will have on the financial results and condition of the Partnership in future periods.  
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